
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 
CASE NO.: 13-cv-23486-MARTINEZ/MCALILEY 

 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ) 
                                    ) 
                               Plaintiff,   ) 
              v.   ) 
   ) 
OM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LLC et al. )  
   ) 
                               Defendants.   ) 
   ) 
 

PLAINTIFF’S MOTION AND MEMORANDUM OF LAW FOR FINAL JUDGMENT 
SETTING DISGORGEMENT AND CIVIL PENALTY AMOUNTS AS TO  

DEFENDANTS OM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LLC AND GIGNESH MOVALIA 
  

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission moves the Court for entry of a Final 

Judgment finding: (1) Defendants OM Investment Management LLC (“OMIM”) and Gignesh 

Movalia jointly and severally liable for disgorgement and prejudgment interest in the amount of 

$1,729,800.04; and (2) Movalia additionally liable for a civil penalty in the amount of $300,000. 

This relief is appropriate because Movalia illegally profited from the fraudulent scheme 

at issue in this case at the expense of his clients.  The relief also is necessary to punish Movalia 

for his involvement in the scheme and to properly deter future violations of the securities laws. 

I.  FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

A.  The Procedural History of the Case 

On September 27, 2013, the Commission filed its Complaint (DE 1) seeking, among 

other things: (A) a permanent injunction to prohibit (i) OMIM and Movalia from violating 

Sections 5(a), 5(c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 

77e(a), 77e(c), and 77q(a)(1); Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(a); and Sections 206(1), 
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206(2), 206(4) and 207 and Rule 206(4)-8 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers 

Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1), 80b-6(2), 80b-6(4), 80b-7 and 17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)-8; and from 

aiding and abetting violations of Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 

(“Investment Company Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 80a-7(a); and (ii) OMIM from violating, and Movalia 

from aiding and abetting violations of, Sections 203A and 206(4) and Rule 206(4)-2 of the 

Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-3a, 80b-6(4), 17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)-2; (B) disgorgement and 

prejudgment interest; and (C) civil money penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d); Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d); Section 209(e) 

of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e); and Section 42(e) of the Investment Company Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 80a-41(e). 

On October 7, 2013, the Court entered a Judgment of Permanent Injunction and Other 

Relief by consent as to OMIM (DE 5), and on October 10, 2013, the Court entered a Judgment of 

Permanent Injunction and Other Relief by consent as to Movalia (DE 6).  The judgments 

permanently restrained and enjoined OMIM and Movalia from the violations set forth above.  In 

addition, the judgments also provided, in pertinent part:    

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that [OMIM and 
Movalia] shall pay disgorgement of ill-gotten gains, prejudgment 
interest, and a civil penalty pursuant to Section 20(d) of the 
Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d), Section 21(d)(3) of the 
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3), Section 209(e) of the 
Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e), and Section 42(e) of the 
Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-41(e).  The Court shall 
determine the amounts of the disgorgement and civil penalty 
upon motion of the Commission. Prejudgment interest shall be 
calculated from July 11, 2013, based on the rate of interest used by 
the Internal Revenue Service for the underpayment of federal 
income tax as set forth in 26 U.S.C. § 6621(a)(2).  In connection 
with the Commission’s motion for disgorgement and/or a civil 
penalty, and at any hearing held on such a motion: (a) [OMIM and 
Movalia] will be precluded from arguing [it/he] did not violate the 
federal securities laws as alleged in the Complaint; (b) [OMIM and 
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Movalia] may not challenge the validity of the Consent or this 
Judgment; (c) solely for the purposes of such motion, the 
allegations of the Complaint shall be accepted as and deemed 
true by the Court; and (d) the Court may determine the issues 
raised in the motion on the basis of affidavits, declarations, 
excerpts of sworn deposition or investigative testimony, and 
documentary evidence, without regard to the standards for 
summary judgment contained in Rule 56(c) of the Federal Rules of 
Civil Procedure.  In connection with the Commission’s motion for 
disgorgement and/or a civil penalty, the parties may take 
discovery, including discovery from appropriate non-parties. 

 
(See DE 5 at 12-13; DE 6 at 12-13) (emphasis added).  Accordingly, the Court should deem the 

allegations in the Complaint true for purposes of this Motion. 

B.  Allegations of the Complaint Deemed True 

 Movalia formed OM Global Investment Fund, LLC (“OM Global”) in August 2007.  (DE 

1 at ¶ 14.)  OM Global was a pooled investment vehicle, but was not registered with the 

Commission.  (Id. at ¶ 1.)  In mid-2011, Movalia began soliciting investors for OM Global by 

representing he had access to pre-IPO shares of Facebook, Inc. (Id. at ¶ 15.)  Many of the 

investors were existing advisory clients of OMIM and Movalia. (Id.)  By the end of 2012, 

Movalia had raised more than $15 million for OM Global.  (Id.) 

 Movalia solicited direct investments in OM Global and also instructed several investors 

to invest in the fund by opening and funding separately managed accounts that gave OMIM and 

Movalia trading authorization as the account investment adviser.  (Id. at ¶ 16.)  Movalia told 

investors during 2011 and 2012 they would be invested solely in Facebook shares, which had a 

six-month lock up period.  (Id. at ¶ 17.)  Movalia and OMIM also executed a side letter with 

certain investors, which specified that OM Global would use the investor funds exclusively to 

purchase pre-IPO shares of Facebook at designated prices.  (Id. at ¶ 18.)  The side letter further 

stated OM Global would account for the investment separately within the fund in a so-called 
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“side pocket.” (Id.)  Contrary to the representations in the side letter, however, OMIM did not 

segregate pre-IPO Facebook shares in a “side pocket” for any investors.  (Id. at ¶ 19.)  Instead, 

OMIM combined the pre-IPO Facebook shares with other investments in the fund.  (Id.) 

 Movalia and OMIM also distributed false account statements to OM Global investors 

through a Morningstar website that included fabricated holdings and account valuations. (Id. at ¶ 

20.)   For example, one investor account statement, dated as of May 16, 2013, listed the account 

value as $74,657.14 and stated the account was 100% invested in Facebook, Inc. Class A shares. 

(Id.)  OM Global, however, held no position in Facebook as of that date stock because Movalia 

had sold all of the fund’s Facebook shares in November 2012.  (Id.)   

 OMIM and Movalia also provided investors with marketing materials, which represented 

that OM Global’s portfolio would consist of “highly liquid, listed global equities exclusively.”  

(Id. at ¶ 21.)  In material deviation from this investment strategy, OMIM and Movalia used a 

significant portion of OM Global’s assets to make loans from OM Global to a series of related 

parties.  (Id. at ¶ 22.)  For example, OM Global loaned $1.8 million to a related entity that paid 

Movalia $23,000 for purported consulting services. (Id. at ¶ 23.)  As of December 2010, Movalia 

was the principal of that related entity, which was the parent company to an investment adviser 

and hedge fund both of which, as of December 2010, Movalia also served as principal.  (Id.)  As 

of March 2013, Movalia provided consulting services to these entities.  (Id.)  In addition, in 

2012, OM Global also loaned $1 million to a dental practice that paid Movalia at least $22,000 

for purported consulting services. (Id. at ¶ 24.) 

 OMIM and Movalia never disclosed these related party transactions or that OM Global 

had made any loans at all. (Id. at ¶ 25.)  Moreover, the fund’s Private Placement Memorandum 

(“PPM”) did not discuss even the possibility that the fund could enter into such related party 
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transactions. (Id.)  OMIM and Movalia also redeemed investors from OM Global using the 

market value of Facebook shares at the time of the redemption (even though Movalia already had 

sold all of OM Global’s Facebook shares) instead of basing the redemptions on the net value of 

the assets under management (“NAV”).  (Id. at ¶ 26.) 

 OMIM and Movalia also distributed to prospective investors offering materials 

representing that OM Global would: (1) provide investors with audited financial statements; (2) 

engage the services of a sub-adviser; and (3) use a third-party administrator. (Id. at ¶ 27.)  

Contrary to these offering materials, however, OM Global never prepared audited financial 

statements or utilized a sub-adviser. (Id. at ¶ 28.)  In addition, OM Global discontinued reports 

from a third-party administrator after 2011. (Id.)  OMIM and Movalia additionally provided 

prospective OM Global investors with a due diligence questionnaire, which misrepresented that 

Movalia had personally invested $225,000 in the fund and that no investor held more than 5% of 

the fund’s total assets.  (Id. at ¶ 29.) 

 On May 24, 2013, an investor in OM Global filed a lawsuit in Miami-Dade County 

Circuit Court against Movalia and OM Global. (Id. at ¶ 31.)  Citing allegations of corporate 

mismanagement, the lawsuit sought an injunction over the accounts held in the name of the fund, 

an accounting of the fund’s transactions, and the appointment of a corporate monitor to take 

control of the fund. (Id.)  On May 29, 2013, with the agreement of both Movalia and OM Global, 

the Miami-Dade County Circuit Court entered an order freezing all assets of OM Global and 

appointing a corporate monitor to oversee the continued management and ultimate dissolution of 

OM Global.  (Id. at ¶ 32.) 

 Nevertheless, OMIM and Movalia failed to disclose to the court and to the corporate 

monitor the existence of at least one bank account in the name of OM Global, LP (“OM LP”), a 
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Delaware limited partnership that Movalia had formed a few months before the corporate 

monitor was appointed. (Id. at ¶ 33.)  On May 24, 2013, four days prior to the entry of the order 

freezing assets, the undisclosed account received $380,000 from investors. (Id.)  On May 28, 

2013, Movalia misappropriated $330,000 of this new investor money and transferred it – without 

disclosure to the new investors – to a start-up company for which he was raising capital. (Id.) 

 On May 20, 2013, co-defendant Edwin V. Gaw, although unaware that a motion to 

appoint the corporate monitor was pending at that time in the Miami-Dade County Circuit Court, 

executed an investment agreement on behalf of OM Global to invest $50,000 in another start-up 

company. (Id. at ¶ 34.)   On May 28, 2013, Movalia transferred $50,000 from the undisclosed 

OM LP account to fund this investment.  (Id.)     

 Movalia’s capital-raising activities continued after the appointment of the corporate 

monitor.  On July 5, 2013, Movalia sent an existing OM Global investor a text message stating 

OM Global’s NAV had increased 7.2% in value during June. (Id. at ¶ 35.)  That same day, the 

investor invested an additional $45,000 in what the investor thought was OM Global through the 

undisclosed OM LP account. (Id.)  At no time, however, did Movalia tell the unsuspecting 

investor that OM LP existed, that it was a separate entity from OM Global, or that the account 

into which the investor was wiring funds was an OM LP account and not an OM Global account. 

(Id.)  Movalia also did not disclose to the unsuspecting investor that OM Global was being 

dissolved or that his advisory business was under regulatory scrutiny.  (Id.)  When the investor 

confronted Movalia with the corporate monitor’s notice, Movalia responded that he was 

continuing to raise money for OM Global and falsely claimed that the unwinding procedure was 

routine and that the federal government had audited OM Global and found nothing wrong or 

suspicious with the fund.  (Id. at ¶ 36.)  On July 5, 2013, Movalia transferred $35,000 of the 
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newly-raised funds to his personal bank account.  (Id. at ¶ 37.)  He later returned the funds on the 

advice of his counsel.  (Id.)  On July 8, 2013, Movalia met with a group of prospective investors 

in New Jersey to solicit additional investments in OM Global. (Id. at ¶ 38.)  Again, he did not 

disclose that OM Global was being dissolved or that his advisory business was under regulatory 

scrutiny.  (Id.) 

 Apart from their misconduct concerning OM Global, OMIM and Movalia also failed to 

comply with the proper registration requirements under the Advisers Act.  Movalia registered 

OMIM with the Commission as an investment adviser from October 2007 until July 15, 2013.  

(Id. at ¶ 39.) During the time it was registered with the Commission, however, OMIM never 

claimed more than $56.3 million in assets under management associated with its advisory 

business. (Id. at ¶ 40.) 

 Section 203A and Rule 203A-1 of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-3a and 17 C.F.R. § 

275.203A-1, prohibit investment advisers from registering with the Commission when they have 

less than $100 million in assets under management.  (Id. at ¶ 41.)  Movalia launched OM Global 

in 2009 and commenced activity in 2010.  (Id. at ¶ 42.)  OMIM and Movalia operated OM 

Global as a pooled investment vehicle, buying and selling securities on behalf of investors in the 

fund. (Id.)  OM Global was, and held itself out as being, engaged primarily in the business of 

investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. (Id.)  At no time, however, was OM Global 

registered with the Commission as an investment company. (Id.) 

 Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-7(a), requires investment 

companies to be registered with the Commission absent an applicable exemption. (Id. at ¶ 43.)  

The OM Global PPM stated it was exempt from registering as an investment company under 

Section 3(c)(1) of the Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-3(c)(1). (Id.)  Section 3(c)(1), 
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however, only provides an exemption from registration as an investment company when there 

are 100 or fewer beneficial owners of a fund. (Id. at ¶ 44.)  OMIM and Movalia raised money, 

however, from more than 100 individuals and entities, each of whom was a beneficial owner of 

OM Global. (Id.) 

 In addition, Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-3(c)(7), 

provides an exemption for a fund if its investors are “qualified purchasers.” (Id. at ¶ 45.)  

Qualified purchasers are further defined in Section 2(a)(51), 15 U.S.C. § 80a-2(a)(51), as, among 

other things, individuals and entities holding not less than $5 million in investment assets.  (Id.)  

Movalia raised money on behalf of OM Global from at least 30 investors who were not qualified 

purchasers. (Id. at ¶ 46.) 

 OMIM and Movalia also failed to register the offer and sale of investment interests in 

OM Global with the Commission.  Subject to certain exemptions, Section 5 of the Securities Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 77e, requires the offer or sale of all securities to be registered with the Commission. 

(Id. at ¶ 47.)  Under Regulation D of the Securities Act, however, exemptions are available for 

certain offerings. (Id.)  Specifically, when unaccredited investors are included in an offering 

exceeding $5 million, an audited financial statement must be provided to the investors under 

Rules 502(b) and 506 of Regulation D, 17 C.F.R. §§ 230.502(b) and 230.506, to avoid 

registering the offer or sale of securities. (Id.)  An accredited investor is defined in Rule 501(a), 

17 C.F.R. § 230.501(a), and includes, among other things, any person with an annual income of 

at least $200,000 in each of the previous two years. (Id.)  No such exemption from registration 

was available for OM Global’s securities since OM Investment Management never obtained 

audited financial statements for the fund, raised at least $15.5 million from investors, and 

recruited at least 30 individuals who were unaccredited investors.  (Id. at ¶ 48.) 

Case 1:13-cv-23486-JEM   Document 10   Entered on FLSD Docket 05/22/2014   Page 8 of 20



 -9- 

Furthermore, OMIM and Movalia made false filings with the Commission.  Movalia 

completed and signed OMIM’s Form ADV filings for 2012 and 2013.  (Id. at ¶ 49.)  In Part 1A 

of those filings, OMIM and Movalia stated the firm’s regulatory assets under management were 

approximately $56.3 million. (Id. at ¶ 50.)  As part of that figure, Movalia included $29 million 

that was associated with another entity for which he purportedly provided consulting services. 

(Id. at ¶ 51.)  Movalia did not provide those consulting services, however, in his capacity as an 

investment adviser. (Id.)  Rather, he described his consulting work as “advice, business 

consulting, and business acumen.” (Id.)   Movalia further stated he provided “advice choosing a 

bank, healthcare financing solutions, asset protection planning, defined benefit planning, basic 

valuation guidance, practice acquisition guidance, financing assistance, and general financial 

planning.”  (Id.) 

In addition, in those Part 1A filings, OMIM and Movalia stated they did not have custody 

of client assets. (Id. at ¶ 52.)  OM Global, however, was, at all relevant times, a client of OMIM 

and Movalia, both of whom had custody of OM Global’s assets. (Id.)  OMIM and Movalia also 

stated they did not advise pooled investment vehicles. (Id.)  OM Global, however, was, at all 

relevant times, a pooled investment vehicle.  (Id.) 

II.  MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

A.  Disgorgement and Prejudgment Interest 

Disgorgement is designed both to deprive a wrongdoer of his unjust enrichment and to 

deter others from violating the securities laws.  See SEC v. Blatt, 583 F.2d 1325, 1335 (5th Cir. 

1978); SEC v. First City Fin. Corp., 890 F.2d 1215, 1230 (D.C. Cir. 1989); SEC v. Blavin, 760 

F.2d 706, 713 (6th Cir. 1985); SEC v. Tome, 833 F.2d 1086, 1096 (2d Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 

486 U.S. 1014 (1988); SEC v. Manor Nursing Centers, 458 F.2d 1082, 1104 (2d Cir. 1972) 
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(“The effective enforcement of the federal securities laws requires that the SEC be able to make 

violations unprofitable”).  Where, as here, the fraud is “pervasive,” the Court should order all 

profits stemming from the scheme to be disgorged.  CFTC v. British American Commodity 

Options Corp., 788 F.2d 92, 93-94 (2d Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 853 (1986).  Courts are 

empowered to order wrongdoers to disgorge the amount of their profits from the wrongdoing.  

SEC v. ETS Payphones, Inc., 408 F.3d 727, 735 (11th Cir. 2005).  “The district court has broad 

discretion not only in determining whether or not to order disgorgement but also in calculating 

the amount to be disgorged.”  SEC v. First Jersey Sec., Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1474-75 (2d Cir. 

1996), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 812 (1997). 

The SEC is entitled to disgorgement “upon producing a reasonable approximation of a 

defendant's ill-gotten gains.” SEC v. Calvo, 378 F.3d 1211, 1217 (11th Cir. 2004). The 

Commission’s burden for showing “the amount of assets subject to disgorgement . . . is light . . .   

Exactitude is not a requirement.’”  ETS Payphones, 408 F.3d at 735.  

1. OMIM and Movalia Should be Held Jointly and Severally Liable for Disgorgement 

 It is well settled that joint and several liability is appropriate in securities law cases 

where two or more individuals or entities have close relationships in engaging in illegal conduct.  

Calvo, 378 F.3d at 1215; SEC v. Hughes Capital, 124 F.3d 449, 455 (3d Cir. 1997); SEC v. First 

Pacific Bancorp, 142 F.3d 1186, 1191-92 (9th Cir. 1998), cert. denied 525 U.S. 1121 (1999) 

(chairman of the board, CEO, and majority shareholder were jointly and severally liable for 

disgorgement); SEC v. Berger, 244 F. Supp. 2d 180, 194 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (finding a defendant 

jointly and severally liable with a corporate codefendant when he conceived of and executed the 

fraud, was the sole owner of the corporation’s stock, and the officer and director).  This principle 

holds true even where one defendant is more culpable than another.  Calvo, 378 F.3d at 1215.  In 
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addition, the scienter of a principal is imputed to the entity the principal serves.  Indeed, the 

Eleventh Circuit has noted that because corporations “have no state of mind of their own . . . , the 

scienter of their agents must be imputed to them.”  Mizzaro v. Home Depot, Inc., 544 F.3d 1230, 

1254 (11th Cir. 2008); see also SEC v. K.W. Brown & Co., 555 F. Supp. 2d 1275, 1305 (S.D. 

Fla. 2007); SEC v. Haligiannis, 470 F. Supp. 2d 373, 381-82 (S.D.N.Y. 2007); Manor Nursing, 

458 F.2d at 1089 n.3.  Accordingly, Movalia’s scienter is properly imputed to OMIM. 

Here, it is appropriate to hold OMIM and Movalia jointly and severally liable for 

disgorgement.  At all times material to this case, Movalia was the managing member and owner 

of OMIM.  (DE 1 at ¶ 9.)  As discussed in Section I above, OMIM acted through Movalia, and 

he in turn acted through the company, in making the various misrepresentations and omissions to 

investors concerning the Facebook investment, the investor account statements and marketing 

materials, and the offering materials; in continuing to solicit investors and receive funds after the 

corporate monitor was appointed; in improperly registering OM Global; and in making the 

various false filings with the Commission. 

2.  Disgorgement Amounts 

As set forth in more detail in the Declaration of Tonya E. Tullis attached as Exhibit A 

hereto (the “Tullis Dec.”),1 OMIM and Movalia profited from the fraudulent scheme in this case 

in the total principal amount of $1,691,538.88. (Tullis Dec. at ¶ 11.) This amount consists of the 

following: 

Consulting Fees.  Movalia received consulting fees totaling $56,346 from Chhatrala 

Capital (“Chhatrala”) and Smile Select Dental (“Smile Select”).  (Tullis Dec. at ¶ 4.)  As noted 

below, Movalia caused OM Global to loan more than $1.6 million to these entities.  These loans 

                                                 
1  Ms. Tullis is a certified public accountant in the State of Florida and a staff accountant with the 
Commission’s Miami Regional Office.  (Tullis Dec. at ¶¶ 1-2.) 
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were inconsistent with OM Global’s investment strategy and Movalia failed to disclose the loans 

to investors.  (See DE 1 at ¶ 25.)  In addition, Movalia was a principal in Chhatrala, which also 

served as the parent company to an investment adviser and hedge fund, for both of which 

Movalia also served as principal.  (See DE 1 at ¶ 23.)  As a result, not only was the loan to 

Chhatrala improper under OM Global’s PPM, but it also was a related-party transaction which 

Movalia failed to disclose to investors.  Accordingly, the consulting fees Movalia earned from 

his work for these entities represents a pecuniary gain to him as part of the pervasive fraud he 

perpetrated on OM Global investors, and is therefore a proper subject for disgorgement. 

Loan Origination Fees. As part of an additional undisclosed loan made to Columbia 

Downtown LLC, an entity related to Chhatrala, Movalia received loan origination fees totaling 

$22,218.  (Tullis Dec. at ¶ 5.)  As noted above, not only were loans inconsistent with the 

investment strategy of OM Global, Chhatrala was a related party to Movalia, which he failed to 

disclose to OM Global investors. (See DE 1 at ¶ 25.)  It is appropriate, therefore, to require 

Movalia to disgorge the loan origination fees he received.  

Transfers from OM Global LP.  Movalia used funds invested in OM Global LP (the 

Delaware entity he created and that investors thought was actually OM Global) to make two 

undisclosed loans – one to Radion Capital Partners (“Radion”) in the amount of $359,000, and 

another to ZetrOz, Inc. (“ZetrOz”) in the amount of $50,000.  These transfers totaled $409,000.  

(Tullis Dec. at ¶ 6.) (see also DE 1 at ¶¶ 33-34.)  As of the filing of this motion, Radion has 

repaid $275,000 to the corporate monitor, but ZetrOz had not made any repayments. (Tullis Dec. 

at ¶¶ 7-8.)  The total principal amount outstanding on these transfers therefore currently is 

$134,000.  Movalia should be required to disgorge this amount because the loans were 

inconsistent with OM Global’s investment strategy, Movalia failed to disclose the loans to 
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investors, and because the Court may find him jointly and severally liable for the actions of OM 

Global and OM Global LP in making the loans, as Movalia conceived of and executed the fraud, 

was the sole control person of OM Global and OM Global LP, and their managing member.  (See 

DE 1 at ¶¶ 8, 9, 25, 33; see also Calvo, 378 F.3d at 1215; First Pacific, 142 F.3d at 1191-92; 

Berger, 244 F. Supp. 2d at 194.)  These transfers amount to misappropriation of investor funds.  

Courts have held the principal on such improper loans to third parties to be disgorgeable in 

Commission enforcement actions.  See, e.g., SEC v. JT Wallenbrock & Assocs., 440 F.3d 1109, 

1115 (9th Cir. 2006) (“The district court properly ordered [the loan] disgorgeable, because it was 

a subsequent investment of the illegally obtained investor funds; SEC v. Milanowski, Inc., No. 

08-cv-00511, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44770, at *9-10, 39-41 (D. Nev. Mar. 15, 2010) (ordering 

disgorgement of principal on loans made to related parties that were inconsistent with the fund’s 

offering materials.) 

Transfers from OM Global. Movalia used funds invested in OM Global to make a series 

of undisclosed loans – one to U and R LLC in the amount of $323,974.88; another to Smile 

Select in the amount of $1 million; and a third to Chhatrala Barstow LLC in the amount of 

$930,000.  These transfers totaled $2,253,974.88.  (Tullis Dec. at ¶ 10.)  As noted above, not 

only were loans inconsistent with the investment strategy of OM Global, but Chhatrala also was 

a related party to Movalia, which he failed to disclose to OM Global investors. (See DE 1 at ¶¶ 

23-25.)  As of the filing of this motion, U and R LLC and Chhatrala Barstow have not repaid any 

portion of the loans, and the entire principal amount on both loans therefore is outstanding and 

should be subject to disgorgement.  (Tullis Dec. at ¶ 10.)  With respect to Smile Select, however, 

the company has repaid $775,000 of the loan, leaving a balance of $225,000.  (Id.)  The balance 

should be included as part of the disgorgement award.  See JT Wallenbrock, 440 F.3d at 1115; 
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Milanowski, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44770 at *9-10, 39-41.  As discussed above, the Court may 

find Movalia jointly and severally liable for the actions of OM Global in making these loans, as 

Movalia conceived of and executed the fraud, was the sole control person of OM Global, and its 

managing member. (See DE 1 at ¶¶ 8, 9, 25, 33; see also Calvo, 378 F.3d at 1215; First Pacific, 

142 F.3d at 1191-92; Berger, 244 F. Supp. 2d at 194.)  The total amount outstanding on each of 

these loans is currently $1,478,975.  (See id.).2 

3.  Prejudgment Interest 

 As noted above in Section I, the Judgments of Permanent Injunction and Other Relief the 

Court entered by consent against OMIM and Movalia on October 7, 2013 and October 10, 2013 

respectively provide for the imposition of prejudgment interest as follows: 

Prejudgment interest shall be calculated from July 11, 2013, based 
on the rate of interest used by the Internal Revenue Service for the 
underpayment of federal income tax as set forth in 26 U.S.C. 
§ 6621(a)(2).   

 
(DE 5 at 12; DE 6 at 12-13.)  An award of prejudgment interest is appropriate because OMIM 

and Movalia have enjoyed access to the illegal profits they made over a period of time.  To 

require OMIM and Movalia to pay prejudgment interest is consistent with the equitable purpose 

of the remedy of disgorgement.  SEC v. Hughes Capital Corp., 917 F. Supp. 1080, 1090 (D.N.J. 

1996), aff’d 124 F.3d 449 (3d Cir. 1997). A defendant’s wrongdoing justifies awards of 

prejudgment interest in accordance with the doctrine of fundamental fairness.  SEC v. Tome, 638 F. 

Supp. 638, 639 (S.D.N.Y. 1986), aff’d 833 F.2d 1086 (2d Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 486 U.S. 1014 

(1988). 

                                                 
2  After the Court enters a final judgment in this case, and assuming part of the judgment includes these 
outstanding loans in the disgorgement award, the Commission agrees to file with the Court partial notices of 
satisfaction of the judgment reflecting any future payments received from the corporate monitor on these additional 
loans. 
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 As set forth in the Tullis Declaration, the total prejudgment interest on the disgorgement 

amounts, from July 11, 2013 until the time of filing of this motion is $38,261.16.  (Tullis Dec. ¶ 

12.)   Pursuant to the terms of the Judgments (DE 5 and DE 6), prejudgment interest was calculated 

in accordance with the delinquent tax rate established by the Internal Revenue Service, 26 U.S.C. 

§ 6621(a)(2), and assessed on a quarterly basis from July 11, 2013 until April 30, 2014.  (See id.; 

see also DE 5 and 6.) 

 The total amount of disgorgement, with principal and prejudgment interest, against 

Movalia and OMIM therefore is $1,729,800.04.  (Tullis Dec. at ¶ 13.) 

B.  Civil Money Penalty 

 The Commission also seeks a third-tier civil money penalty against Movalia in the 

amount of $300,000 pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d); Section 

21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d); Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

80b-9(e); and Section 42(e) of the Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-41(e).  All of these 

statutes establish the same three-tier system of penalties. 

 Under the first tier, the Court may impose a penalty of up to the greater of: (i) $7,500 for 

a natural person or $75,000 on an entity for each violation; or (ii) the gross amount of pecuniary 

gain to the defendant as a result of the violation.  Under the Second Tier, the Court may impose a 

penalty of up to the greater of: (i) $75,000 for a natural person or $375,000 on an entity for each 

violation; or (ii) the gross amount of pecuniary gain to the defendant as a result of the violation.  

The second tier applies where the violation involved fraud, deceit, manipulation, or deliberate or 

reckless disregard of a regulatory requirement.  Finally, under the third tier the Court may 

impose a penalty of up to the greater of: (i) $150,000 on a natural person or $725,000 on an 

entity for each violation; or (ii) the gross amount of pecuniary gain to the defendant as a result of 
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the violation. SEC v. KS Advisors, Inc., No. 2:04-CV-105-FTM-29, 2006 WL 288227 at *3 

(M.D. Fla. Feb. 6, 2006).  The third tier applies to cases in which the requirements of a second 

tier penalty are present and the violation directly or indirectly resulted in substantial losses or 

created a significant risk of substantial losses to other persons.  Meadows v. SEC, 119 F.3d 1219, 

1228 (5th Cir. 1997).  Because of the circumstances in this case, the Court should impose a third-

tier civil penalty. 

Civil penalties are designed to punish the violator and deter future violations of the 

securities laws.  SEC v. Moran, 944 F. Supp. 286, 296 (S.D.N.Y. 1996).  In determining whether 

to impose civil penalties and the amount of the fine, courts look to a number of factors, 

including: (1) the egregiousness of the conduct; (2) the degree of the defendants’ scienter; (3) 

whether the defendants’ conduct created substantial losses or the risk of substantial losses to 

other persons; (4) whether the defendants’ conduct was isolated or recurrent; and (5) whether the 

penalty should be reduced due to the defendants’ current and future financial condition.   

SEC v. U.S. Pension Trust Corp., 2010 WL 3894082 at *25 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 30, 2010) (citing 

SEC v. Opulentica, LLC, 479 F. Supp. 2d 319, 331 (S.D.N.Y. 2007)).  While these factors are 

helpful in characterizing a particular defendant’s actions, the civil penalty framework is of a 

“discretionary nature” and each case “has its own particular facts and circumstances which 

determine the appropriate penalty to be imposed.” Moran, 944 F. Supp. at 296-97. 

 In this case, Movalia’s actions merit a third-tier penalty in the amount of $300,000.  First, 

his actions clearly were egregious and demonstrate a high degree of scienter. Aside from 

misrepresenting the “side pocket” investment for the Facebook shares, distributing false account 

statements to investors reflecting the value of Facebook shares that OM Global no longer owned, 

and making undisclosed loans to related parties in direct contravention of OM Global’s stated 
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investment strategy, Movalia blatantly attempted to evade the corporate monitorship in the state 

court action by continuing to solicit investments in a different entity (OM Global LP) with an 

almost identical name to OM Global and failing to disclose to the corporate monitor the 

existence of OM Global LP’s bank accounts.  Indeed, his solicitation efforts continued for over a 

month after the corporate monitor took control of OM Global’s operations. (DE 1 at ¶¶ 35-38.)  

In addition, Movalia improperly registered OMIM with the Commission but failed altogether to 

register OM Global as an investment company and also failed to register the offer and sale of 

interests in OM Global. OMIM and Movalia also knowingly made false statements in OMIM’s 

Form ADV filings for 2012 and 2013.  (DE 1 at ¶¶ 39-51.) 

 Second, Movalia’s actions created substantial losses for investors.  In reconstructing OM 

Global’s finances, the corporate monitor has determined that the fund’s net losses were 

approximately $8.9 million.  (See Third Report of Corporate Monitor James D. Sallah at 6, a true 

and correct copy of which is attached as Exhibit 1 to the Declaration of Patrick R. Costello, 

which is attached as Exhibit B hereto.)  Moreover, given his misconduct in falsifying account 

statements and blatantly ignoring the appointment of the corporate monitor in continuing to 

solicit investments for the fund, Movalia also posed a serious risk of substantial further losses to 

investors. 

 Third, Movalia’s actions were recurrent.  Movalia (i) distributed false account statements 

to investors on a monthly basis; (ii) made undisclosed loans to related parties over at least a two-

year period; (iii) continued to solicit investments in OM Global for more than a month after the 

corporate monitor was appointed to control and unwind the fund; and (iv) and submitted false 

filings to the Commission in 2012 and again in 2013.  
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The final factor explains why the Commission has not sought a larger civil penalty as to 

Movalia. As noted above, a third tier penalty in the amount of $150,000 could be imposed on 

Movalia for each violation he committed.  For example, the Court could penalize Movalia for 

every false investor account statement that was sent each month, and for each investor who was 

sent the misleading marketing materials describing OM Global’s investment strategy.  At around 

300 investors over at least a one-year period, that figure could be as high as 3,600 separate 

instances of misconduct each multiplied by $150,000.  The Court also could penalize Movalia 

for each loan made and each origination fee that Movalia received.  Taking these considerations 

into account, the Commission submits that its proposed penalty amount of $300,000 is 

reasonable and appropriately punishes Movalia for his misconduct.3   

The proposed penalty also is consistent with penalties imposed in similar investment 

adviser fraud cases.  See, e.g., In re Ronald Gualario, AP File No. 3-14340 (2012) (Commission 

Release Nos. 33-9310; 34-66751; IA-3392; IC-30028) ($390,000 penalty against adviser for 

making misrepresentations concerning private fund, including radical style drift, and for failing 

to register as a dealer); SEC v. ICP Asset Mgmt. LLC et al., Case No. 10-cv-4791 (S.D.N.Y. 

2012) ($488,000 penalty against adviser who entered into prohibited investments, provided false 

valuations, and favored certain advisory clients over others); SEC v. Lauer, Case No. 03-cv-

80612 (S.D. Fla. 2008) ($500,000 penalty against adviser of private funds who generated fake 

statements, misrepresented portfolio valuations and composition among other things); SEC v. 

Kirkland, Case No. 06-cv-183 (M.D. Fla. 2007) ($250,000 penalty against mastermind of 

                                                 
3  The Commission notes that the Court already imposed a $100,000 civil penalty on Movalia’s co-defendant, 
Edwin V. Gaw.  (DE 7 at 7.)  Gaw was less culpable than Movalia in this fraud.  For example, he was not involved 
in Movalia’s decision to combine the pre-IPO Facebook shares with other investments in OM Global, nor did he 
participate in the unauthorized loans made to the various third parties.  In addition, Gaw was not involved in 
Movalia’s attempt to evade the corporate monitor in forming OM Global LP.  Therefore, the Commission submits 
that its proposed $300,000 penalty against Movalia appropriately balances the respective culpability Movalia and 
Gaw bear for the misconduct they committed in this case. 
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offering fraud who provided baseless projections and demand related to investment opportunity 

and omitted to disclose investor litigation and a state regulatory action). 

III.  CONCLUSION 
 

For the foregoing reasons, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court grant the 

Commission’s motion and enter final judgment setting the above-described disgorgement and 

civil penalty amounts against OMIM and Movalia.  A proposed order and final judgment is 

attached for the Court’s convenience. 

 

Dated: May 22, 2014     Respectfully submitted, 

      By: /s/ Patrick R. Costello     
       Patrick R. Costello 
       Senior Trial Counsel 
       Florida Bar No. 75034 
       Direct Dial:  (305) 982-6380 
       E-mail: CostelloP@sec.gov 
       Lead Attorney  
 
 
 
        ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
        801 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1800 
        Miami, Florida 33131 
        Telephone: (305) 982-6300 
        Facsimile: (305) 536-4154 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on May 22, 2014, the above document was filed 

electronically using CM/ECF.  I also certify that the above document is being served this day on 

all counsel of record or pro se parties identified on the Service List below, either via 

transmission of Notices of Electronic Filing generated by CM/ECF or in some other authorized 

manner for those counsel of record or pro se parties who are not authorized to receive 

electronically Notices of Electronic Filing. 

 
/s/ Patrick R. Costello    

      Patrick R. Costello 
 

 
 
 
 

SERVICE LIST 

Securities and Exchange Commission v. OM Investment Management LLC et al. 
Case No. 13-cv-23486-MARTINEZ/MCALILEY 

United States District Court, Southern District of Florida 
 

 
David R. Chase, Esq. 
The Law Firm of David R. Chase, P.A.  
1700 East Las Olas Boulevard, Suite 305  
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301  
Telephone: 954-889-5120  
E-mail: david@davidchaselaw.com 
 
Counsel for Edwin V. Gaw 

 Gary A. Klein, Esq. 
The Klein Law Group 
7832 Red Mahogany Road 
Boynton Beach, FL 33437 
Telephone: (561) 704-5897 
E-mail: gkleinlaw@yahoo.com 
 
Counsel for OM Investment Management LLC 
and Gignesh Movalia 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 
CASE NO.: 13-cv-23486-MARTINEZ/MCALILEY 

 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ) 
                                    ) 
                               Plaintiff,   ) 
              v.   ) 
   ) 
OM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LLC et al. )  
   ) 
                               Defendants.   ) 
   ) 
 

ORDER AND FINAL JUDGMENT SETTING DISGORGEMENT AND CIVIL 
PENALTY AMOUNTS AS TO DEFENDANTS OM INVESTMENT  

MANAGEMENT LLC AND GIGNESH MOVALIA  
 

THIS MATTER is before the Court on Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission’s 

Motion and Memorandum of Law for Final Judgment Setting Disgorgement and Civil Penalty 

Amounts as to Defendants OM Investment Management LLC and Gignesh Movalia. (DE __.)  

 On October 7, 2013, this Court entered a Judgment of Permanent Injunction and Other 

Relief by consent as to Defendant OM Investment Management LLC (“OMIM”) (DE 5), and on 

October 10, 2013, the Court entered a Judgment of Permanent Injunction and Other Relief by 

consent as to Defendant Gignesh Movalia (“Movalia”) (DE 6).  These Judgments provide that 

upon motion of the Commission, the Court shall determine the amount of disgorgement, 

prejudgment interest and a civil penalty that OMIM and Movalia shall pay pursuant to Section 

20(d) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d); Section 21(d)(3) of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3); Section 209(e) of the 

Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e); and Section 42(e) of 

the Investment Company Act of 1940 (“Investment Company Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 80a-41(e).  (DE 

5 at 12-13; DE 6 at 12-13.) 
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 UPON CONSIDERATION  of the instant Motion and being otherwise fully advised in 

the premises, it is ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Motion is GRANTED.  Final 

Judgment is hereby entered against OMIM and Movalia as follows: 

I. 

DISGORGEMENT AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST AGAINST  
OMIM AND MOVALIA JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that OMIM and Movalia jointly and 

severally are liable for disgorgement in the amount of $1,691,538.88, representing profits gained 

as a result of the conduct alleged in the Complaint (DE 1), together with prejudgment interest 

thereon in the amount of $38,261.16.  OMIM and Movalia shall satisfy this obligation by paying 

the total amount of $1,729,800.04 to the Commission within 14 days after entry of this Final 

Judgment. 

OMIM and Movalia may transmit payment electronically to the Commission, which will 

provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions upon request.   Payment also may be made 

directly from a bank account via Pay.gov through the SEC website at 

http://www.sec.gov/about/offices/ofm.htm.  OMIM and Movalia also may pay by certified 

check, bank cashier’s check, or United States postal money order payable to the Securities and 

Exchange Commission, which shall be delivered or mailed to  

Enterprise Services Center 
Accounts Receivable Branch 
6500 South MacArthur Boulevard 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 
 

and shall be accompanied by a letter (i) identifying the case title, civil action number, and name 

of this Court; (ii) identifying OMIM and Movalia as defendants in this action; and (iii) 

specifying that payment is made pursuant to this Final Judgment.   
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OMIM and Movalia shall simultaneously transmit photocopies of evidence of payment 

and case identifying information to the Commission’s counsel in this action: 

Patrick R. Costello, Esq. 
Securities & Exchange Commission 
801 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1800 
Miami, FL 33131 
costellop@sec.gov  
 
By making this payment, OMIM and Movalia relinquish all legal and equitable right, 

title, and interest in such funds and no part of the funds shall be returned to them. The 

Commission shall hold the funds (collectively, the “Fund”) and may propose a plan to distribute 

the Fund subject to the Court’s approval.  Such a plan may provide that the Fund shall be 

distributed pursuant to the Fair Fund provisions of Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 

2002.  The Court shall retain jurisdiction over the administration of any distribution of the Fund.  

If the Commission staff determines that the Fund will not be distributed, the Commission shall 

send the funds paid pursuant to this Final Judgment to the United States Treasury. 

The Commission may enforce this Final Judgment for disgorgement and prejudgment 

interest by moving for civil contempt (and/or through other collection procedures authorized by 

law) at any time after 14 days following entry of this Final Judgment.  OMIM and Movalia shall 

pay post judgment interest on any delinquent amounts pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961. 

II. 

CIVIL PENALTY AGAINST MOVALIA 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Movalia shall pay a civil penalty 

in the amount of $300,000, pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d); 

Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d); Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 80b-9(e); and Section 42(e) of the Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-41(e). 
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OMIM shall make this payment to the Commission within 14 days after entry of this Final 

Judgment. 

Movalia may transmit payment electronically to the Commission, which will provide 

detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions upon request.   Payment also may be made directly 

from a bank account via Pay.gov through the SEC website at 

http://www.sec.gov/about/offices/ofm.htm.  Movalia also may pay by certified check, bank 

cashier’s check, or United States postal money order payable to the Securities and Exchange 

Commission, which shall be delivered or mailed to 

Enterprise Services Center 
Accounts Receivable Branch 
6500 South MacArthur Boulevard 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 
 

and shall be accompanied by a letter (i) identifying the case title, civil action number, and name 

of this Court; (ii) identifying Movalia as a defendant in this action; and (iii) specifying that 

payment is made pursuant to this Final Judgment.   

Movalia shall simultaneously transmit photocopies of evidence of payment and case 

identifying information to the Commission’s counsel in this action: 

Patrick R. Costello, Esq. 
Securities & Exchange Commission 
801 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1800 
Miami, FL 33131 
costellop@sec.gov  
 
By making this payment, Movalia relinquishes all legal and equitable right, title, and 

interest in such funds and no part of the funds shall be returned to him.  Movalia shall pay post 

judgment interest on any delinquent amounts pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961.   The Commission 

shall hold the funds (collectively, the “Fund”) and may propose a plan to distribute the Fund 

subject to the Court’s approval.  Such a plan may provide that the Fund shall be distributed 
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pursuant to the Fair Fund provisions of Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  The 

Court shall retain jurisdiction over the administration of any distribution of the Fund.  If the 

Commission staff determines that the Fund will not be distributed, the Commission shall send 

the funds paid pursuant to this Final Judgment to the United States Treasury. 

Regardless of whether any such Fair Fund distribution is made, amounts ordered to be 

paid as a civil penalty pursuant to this Final Judgment shall be treated as a penalty paid to the 

government for all purposes, including all tax purposes.  To preserve the deterrent effect of the 

civil penalty, Movalia shall not, after offset or reduction of any award of compensatory damages 

in any Related Investor Action based on Movalia’s payment of disgorgement in this action, argue 

that he is entitled to, nor shall he further benefit by, offset or reduction of such compensatory 

damages award by the amount of any part of Movalia’s payment of a civil penalty in this action 

(“Penalty Offset”).  If the court in any Related Investor Action grants such a Penalty Offset, 

Movalia shall, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Commission’s counsel in this action and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the United 

States Treasury or to a Fair Fund, as the Commission directs.  Such a payment shall not be 

deemed an additional civil penalty and shall not be deemed to change the amount of the civil 

penalty imposed in this Final Judgment.  For purposes of this paragraph, a “Related Investor 

Action” means a private damages action brought against Movalia by or on behalf of one or more 

investors based on substantially the same facts as alleged in the Complaint in this action (DE 1). 

III. 

BANKRUPTCY NONDISCHARGEABILITY 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that any debt for disgorgement, 

prejudgment interest, civil penalty or other amounts due by Movalia under this Final Judgment 

or any other judgment, order, consent order, decree or settlement agreement entered in 
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connection with this proceeding, is a debt for the violation by Movalia of the federal securities 

laws or any regulation or order issued under such laws, as set forth in Section 523(a)(19) of the 

Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §523(a)(19). 

IV. 

DISMISSAL OF CLAIM FOR CIVIL PENALTY AGAINST OMIM 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that upon entry of this Final 

Judgment, the Commission’s claim for a civil penalty against OMIM is dismissed. 

V. 

RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that this Court shall retain 

jurisdiction of this matter for the purposes of enforcing the terms of this Final Judgment. 

VI. 

RULE 54(b) CERTIFICATION 

 There being no just reason for delay, pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, the Clerk is ordered to enter this Final Judgment forthwith and without further notice. 

  

 Done and Ordered in Chambers in Miami, Florida, this ____ day of 

________________________, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
JOSE E. MARTINEZ 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

 
 

Copies to:  

All counsel of Record 
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